#### Unclassified

#### ENV/JM/MONO(2016)22



Organisation de Coopération et de Développement Économiques Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

07-Jul-2016

English - Or. English

# ENV/JM/MONO(2016)22 Unclassified

#### ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE JOINT MEETING OF THE CHEMICALS COMMITTEE AND THE WORKING PARTY ON CHEMICALS, PESTICIDES AND BIOTECHNOLOGY

#### SINGLE WALLED CARBON NANOTUBES (SWCNTs): SUMMARY OF THE DOSSIER

Series on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials No. 70

This document is only available in PDF format. This document is the summary of the Single Walled Carbon Nanotubes (SWCNTs) dossier, published as: - ENV/JM/MONO(2015)13/PART1 - ENV/JM/MONO(2015)13/PART2

#### JT03399162

Complete document available on OLIS in its original format This document and any map included herein are without prejudice to the status of or sovereignty over any territory, to the delimitation of international frontiers and boundaries and to the name of any territory, city or area.

## **OECD Environment, Health and Safety Publications**

Series on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials

No. 70

# SINGLE WALLED CARBON NANOTUBES (SWCNTs): **SUMMARY OF THE DOSSIER**



agreement among FAO, ILO, UNDP, UNEP, UNIDO, UNITAR, WHO, World Bank and OECD

**Environment Directorate ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT** Paris, 2016

#### Also published in the Series on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials:

- No. 1, Report of the OECD Workshop on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Building Co-operation, Co-ordination and Communication (2006)
- No. 2, Current Developments/ Activities on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Tour de table at the 1st Meeting of the Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials (2006)
- No. 3, Current Developments/ Activities on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Tour de table at the 2nd Meeting of the Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials (2007)
- No. 4, Manufactured Nanomaterials: Programme of Work 2006-2008 (2008)
- No. 5, Current Developments/ Activities on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Tour de table at the 3rd Meeting of the Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials (2008)
- No. 6, List of Manufactured Nanomaterials and List of Endpoints for Phase One of the OECD Testing Programme (2008)
- No. 7, Current Developments/ Activities on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Tour de table at the 4th Meeting of the Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials (2008)
- No. 8, Preliminary Analysis of Exposure Measurement and Exposure Mitigation in Occupational Settings: Manufactured Nanomaterials (2009)
- No. 9, EHS Research Strategies on Manufactured Nanomaterials: Compilation of Outputs (2009)
- No. 10, Identification, Compilation and Analysis of Guidance Information for Exposure Measurement and Exposure Mitigation: Manufactured Nanomaterials (2009)
- No. 11, Emission Assessment for the Identification of Sources and Release of Airborne Manufactured Nanomaterials in the Workplace: Compilation of Existing Guidance (2009)
- No. 12, Comparison of Guidance on Selection of Skin Protective Equipment and Respirators for Use in the Workplace: Manufactured Nanomaterials (2009)
- No. 13, Report of an OECD Workshop on Exposure Assessment and Exposure Mitigation: Manufactured Nanomaterials (2009)
- No. 14, Guidance Manual for the Testing of Manufactured Nanomaterials: OECD Sponsorship Programme (2009)
- No. 15, Preliminary Review of OECD Test Guidelines for their Applicability to Manufactured Nanomaterials (2009)

- No. 16, Manufactured Nanomaterials: Work Programme 2009-2012 (2009)
- No. 17, Current Development/ Activities on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Tour de table at the 5th Meeting of the Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials (2009)
- No. 18, Manufactured Nanomaterials: Roadmap for Activities during 2009 and 2010 (2009)
- No. 19, Analysis of Information Gathering Initiative on Manufactured Nanomaterials (2009)
- No. 20, Current Development/ Activities on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Tour de table at the 6th Meeting of the Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials (2010)
- No. 21, Report of the Workshop on Risk Assessment of Manufactured Nanomaterials in a Regulatory Context (2010)
- No. 22, OECD Programme on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials 2009-2012: Operational Plans of the Projects (2010)
- No. 23, Report of the Questionnaire on Regulatory Regimes for Manufactured Nanomaterials (2010)
- No. 24, Preliminary Guidance Notes on Sample Preparation and Dosimetry for the Safety Testing of Manufactured Nanomaterials (2010)
- No. 25, Guidance Manual for the Testing of Manufactured Nanomaterials: OECD Sponsorship Programme: <u>First Revision (2010)</u>
- No. 26, Current Development/ Activities on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Tour de table at the 7th Meeting of the Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials (2010)
- No. 27, List of Manufactured Nanomaterials and List of Endpoints for Phase One of the Sponsorship Programme for the Testing Manufactured Nanomaterials: Revised (2010)
- No. 28, Compilation and Comparison of Guidelines Related to Exposure to Nanomaterials in Laboratories (2010)
- No. 29, Current Development/ Activities on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Tour de table at the 8th Meeting of the Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials (2011)
- No. 30, Regulated Nanomaterials: 2006-2009(2011)
- No. 31, Information Gathering Schemes on Nanomaterials: Lessons Learned and Reported Information (2011)
- No. 32, National Activities on Life Cycle Assessment of Nanomaterials (2011)

- No. 33, Important Issues on Risk Assessment of Manufactured Nanomaterials (2012)
- No. 34, Current Development/ Activities on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Tour de table at the 9th Meeting of the Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials (2012)
- No. 35, Inhalation Toxicity Testing: Expert Meeting on Potential Revisions to OECD Test Guidelines and Guidance Document (2012)
- No. 36, Guidance on Sample Preparation and Dosimetry for the Safety Testing of Manufactured Nanomaterials (2012)
- No.37, Current Developments in Delegations on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials -Tour de Table at the 10<sup>th</sup> Meeting of the WPMN (2012)
- No.38, Co-Operation on Risk Assessment: Prioritisation of Important Issues on Risk Assessment of Manufactured Nanomaterials - Final Report (2013)
- No. 39, Environmentally Sustainable Use of Manufactured Nanomaterials Workshop held on 14 September 2011 in Rome, Italy (2013)
- No. 40, Ecotoxicology and Environmental Fate of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Test Guidelines (2014)
- No.41, Report of the OECD Expert meeting on the Physical Chemical Properties of Manufactured Nanomaterials and Test Guidelines (2014)
- No.42, Report of the questionnaire on regulatory regimes for manufactured nanomaterials 2010-2011 (2014)
- No.43, Genotoxicity of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Report of the OECD expert meeting (2014)

Nos. 44-54, These items are the dossiers derived from the Testing Programme on Manufactured Nanomaterials which are located at:

http://www.oecd.org/chemicalsafety/nanosafety/testing-programme-manufactured-nanomaterials.htm

- No.55, Harmonized Tiered Approach to Measure and Assess the Potential Exposure to Airbone Emissions of Engineered Nano-objects and their Agglomerates and Aggregates at Workplaces. (2015)
- No.56, Analysis of the Survey on Available Methods and Models for Assessing Exposure to Manufactured Nanomaterials (2015)
- No.57, Guidance Manual towards the integration of risk assessment into life cycle assessment of nano-enabled applications (2015)
- No.58, Preliminary guidance notes on Nanomaterials: Interspecies variability factors in human health risk assessment (2015)
- No.59, Developments on the safety of manufactured nanomaterials: 2013 (2015)

- No.60, Current developments in delegations on the safety of manufactured nanomaterials tour de table (2015)
- No.61, Developments in delegations on the safety of manufactured nanomaterials tour de table (2015)
- No.62, Considerations for using dissolution as a function of surface chemistry to Evaluate environmental behaviour of nanomaterials in risk assessments (2015)
- No.63, Physical-chemical parameters: measurements and methods relevant for the regulation of nanomaterials (2016)
- No.64, Approaches on nano grouping/ equivalence/ read-across concepts based on physicalchemical properties (GERA-PC) for regulatory regimes (2016)
- No.65, Physical-chemical properties of nanomaterials: Evaluation of methods applied in the OECD-WPMN testing programme (2016)
- No.66, Categorisation of manufactured nanomaterials (2016)
- No.67, Developments in delegations on the safety of manufactured nanomaterials - tour de table(2016)
- No.68, Multiwalled carbon nanotubes (MWCNT): summary of the dossier (2016)
- No.69, Fullerenes (C60): summary of the dossier (2016)

#### © OECD 2016

Applications for permission to reproduce or translate all or part of this material should be made to: Head of Publications Service, RIGHTS@oecd.org, OECD, 2 rue André-Pascal, 75775 Paris Cedex 16, France

#### **ABOUT THE OECD**

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) is an intergovernmental organisation in which representatives of 34 industrialised countries in North and South America, Europe and the Asia and Pacific region, as well as the European Commission, meet to co-ordinate and harmonise policies, discuss issues of mutual concern, and work together to respond to international problems. Most of the OECD's work is carried out by more than 200 specialised committees and working groups composed of member country delegates. Observers from several countries with special status at the OECD, and from interested international organisations, attend many of the OECD's workshops and other meetings. Committees and working groups are served by the OECD Secretariat, located in Paris, France, which is organised into directorates and divisions.

The Environment, Health and Safety Division publishes free-of-charge documents in eleven different series: Testing and Assessment; Good Laboratory Practice and Compliance Monitoring; Pesticides; Biocides; Risk Management; Harmonisation of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology; Safety of Novel Foods and Feeds; Chemical Accidents; Pollutant Release and Transfer Registers; Emission Scenario Documents; and Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials. More information about the Environment, Health and Safety Programme and EHS publications is available on the OECD's World Wide Web site (www.oecd.org/chemicalsafety/).

This publication was developed in the IOMC context. The contents do not necessarily reflect the views or stated policies of individual IOMC Participating Organizations.

The Inter-Organisation Programme for the Sound Management of Chemicals (IOMC) was established in 1995 following recommendations made by the 1992 UN Conference on Environment and Development to strengthen co-operation and increase international co-ordination in the field of chemical safety. The Participating Organisations are FAO, ILO, UNDP, UNEP, UNIDO, UNITAR, WHO, World Bank and OECD. The purpose of the IOMC is to promote co-ordination of the policies and activities pursued by the Participating Organisations, jointly or separately, to achieve the sound management of chemicals in relation to human health and the environment.

This publication is available electronically, at no charge.

For this and many other Environment, Health and Safety publications, consult the OECD's World Wide Web site (www.oecd.org/chemicalsafety/)

or contact:

OECD Environment Directorate, Environment, Health and Safety Division 2 rue André-Pascal 75775 Paris Cedex 16 France

Fax: (33-1) 44 30 61 80

E-mail: ehscont@oecd.org

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1 II	IDENTITY	
1.1	Identification of the Substance	
1.2	Purity/Impurities/Additives	10
1.3	Physical-Chemical Properties	10
2 0	GENERAL INFORMATION ON EXPOSURE	12
2.1	Environmental Exposure and Fate	
2	2.1.1 Photodegradation	
2	2.1.2 Stability in Water	
2	2.1.3 Transport between Environmental Compartments	
2	2.1.4 Biodegradation	
2	2.1.5 Bioaccumulation	
3 H	HAZARDS TO THE ENVIRONMENT	14
3.1	Aquatic Effects	14
3.2	2 Terrestrial Effects	
3.3	Summary	
4 H	HUMAN HEALTH HAZARDS	
4.1	Effects on Human Health	
4	4.1.1 Toxicokinetics	
4	4.1.2 Acute Toxicity	23
4	4.1.3 Irritation	
4	4.1.4 Sensitisation	
4	4.1.5 Repeated Dose Toxicity	
4	4.1.6 Mutagenicity	
4	4.1.7 Carcinogenicity	
4	4.1.8 Toxicity for Reproduction	
4	4.1.9 Toxicity in vitro	
REFE	ERENCE	

This summary report includes literature data that take materials into account that differ from the materials tested under the sponsorship programme.

# **1 IDENTITY**

## **1.1 Identification of the Substance**

Chemical name: SWCNTs, Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes

CAS No.: 308068-56-6

## **1.2** Purity/Impurities/Additives

Some SWCNTs contain catalytic metals as impurities. Nikkiso SWCNT contains about 4 wt% of Fe and very small amount of other metallic impurities. The purity of Super Growth is >99 wt% (carbon) and it contains very small amount of metals as impurities.

## **1.3** Physical-Chemical Properties

Endpoint	Principal(1) Nikkiso SWCNT	Principal (2) Super Growth	note	
Agglomeration/aggregation		particles were in bundle consisting of a few or dozens of SWCNTs. The average bundle length was 0.28 µm (SD=0.17) and the average bundle diameter was 9.3 nm (SD=4.5)	Observed by TEM	
Water solubility	insoluble to water	insoluble to water	Niyogi S. et al (2002) $^1$	
Crystalline phase	G/D = 116 +/- 21	G/D = 9.4 (SD=3.4)	Raman Spectral Analysis The soundness of the structure (Defect of graphene sheet) can be seen by the ratio of G-band and D-band of Raman Spectrum.	
Dustiness	n/a	Respirable mass conc. 0.025 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	Vortex Shaker Method (Maynard 2004) <sup>2</sup>	

 Table 1
 Summary of Physical-Chemical Properties

Single nanotube size	Dia. = 1.86 nm SD = 1.4	Dia. = 3.03 nm SD = 1.11	Observed by TEM
Representative TEM picture	Sun-	TEM Picture 50 nm	
Particle size distribution	Dia = 2.7 $\mu$ m SD = 1.4 (measured by DLS)	Dia = $8.2 \text{ nm} (\text{SD} = 1.7)$ Length = $0.23 \mu \text{m}$ (SD=1.8) (measured by TEM)	
Specific surface area	877.7m <sup>2</sup> /g	1,064 m <sup>2</sup> /g	ISO 9277 (BET method)
Zeta potential	19.9 +/- 5.5 Stable dispersion in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium with 10% heat- inactivated fetal bovine serum (not described in dossier)	-14.7 +/- 0.9 Stable dispersion in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (not described in dossier)	electrophoretic mobility method
Surface chemistry	O/C = 0.022 (Measured by XPS)	O/C = 0.003 (Measured by XPS)	For checking the absence of functional groups and the defect density
Photocatalytic activity	No photocatalytic activity	No photocatalytic activity	ISO 22197-1 / JIS R 1701
Pour density	n/a (the material is in a felt like form)	0.0192 g/cm <sup>3</sup>	ASTM D 1513-05
Porosity	Pore volume =: 30.5 ml/g Davg = 190 nm	Pore volume =: 18.6 ml/g Davg = 54 nm	ISO 15901-1
Octanol-water partition coefficient	n/a	n/a	SWCNTs are insoluble to water
Redox potential			

Radical formation potential including surface properties		The method is not specified.
--	--	------------------------------

# 2 GENERAL INFORMATION ON EXPOSURE

## 2.1 Environmental Exposure and Fate

#### 2.1.1 Photodegradation

No adequate information is available.

#### 2.1.2 Stability in Water

Bouchard et al.<sup>3</sup> studied dispersion stability of SWCNT supplied by **Cheap Tubes Inc.** in water. To determine the long term stability of the SWCNTs in representative environmental systems, the suspended mass concentrations of SWCNTs in 0.01 and 0.001% (w/v) SDS and in 10 mM NaCl, 1.0 mM CaCl2 and in Calls Creek water were measured over a 6-week period. Column transport studies were conducted under saturated conditions using fresh water sediment. Longer term stability studies demonstrated that SWCNTs remained suspended for over six weeks in surface water. Transport studies in a freshwater sediment showed that SWCNTs retained greater at lower SDS concentrations (0.001%-0.05% w/v) than at a higher SDS concentration (0.1%). These studies demonstrate that low levels of surfactant are effective in stabilizing and mobilizing SWCNTs in environmental media.

## 2.1.3 Transport between Environmental Compartments

No information is available.

#### 2.1.4 Biodegradation

Six readily bio-degradability tests were conducted with **Nikkiso SWCNT** and **Super Growth** according to OECD test guidelines in compliance with GLP.

Two biodegradation tests according to OECD TG 301F (Manometric respirometry method) were conducted (AIST, 2011<sup>4,5</sup>). The concentration of **Nikkiso SWCNT** and **Super Growth** were 100 mg/L and the concentration of the activated sludge was 30 mg/L as suspended solid matter. Biodegradation by BOD after 28 day cultivation period was 0 %. Two biodegradation tests according to OECD TG 301C (Modified MITI method (I)) were conducted with cultivation period of 28 days (AIST, 2011<sup>6,7</sup>). Biodegradation by BOD after 28 day cultivation period was 0 %. Two bio-degradation tests according to OECD TG 302C (Inherent Biodegradability: Modified MITI method (II)) were conducted with cultivation period of 28 days (AIST, 2011<sup>8,9</sup>). Biodegradation by BOD after 28 day cultivation period was 0 %.

#### 2.1.5 Bioaccumulation

Parks et al.<sup>10</sup> (2012) tested the toxicity, bioavailability, and bioaccumulation of several SWCNTs in marine benthic organisms at the base of the food chain. These SWCNTs included SG65, SG76, and CG100 produced by SouthWest NanoTechnologies using CoMoCAT method and 14C-radiolabeling SWCNT produced by Research Triangle Institute using the arc discharge method. SWCNTs were

prepared in 2% w/v sodium deoxycholate (SDC, a water soluble bile-acid ionic detergent) using high power sonication at 50% amplitude for 10 minutes in a salt-water ice bath, followed by centrifugation at 17,860 x g and 22°C for 30 minutes to remove non-suspended SWCNT bundles. Toxicity and bioaccumulation tests suspensions of unlabeled SWCNT were prepared at 1 mg SWCNT/ml 2% w/v SDC with no centrifugation. Stock suspensions were resonicated prior to adding to sediment or food sources if not used immediately after preparation.

No significant mortalities were seen in the amphipod *Ampelisca abdita* or the mysid *Americamysis bahia* at measured food- and sediment-borne concentrations of SWCNTs of up to 100 ppm (highest concentration tested) over a seven-day exposure period using static conditions. These experiments were conducted with reference marine sediment (i.e., Long Island Sound) at 0.1, 1, and 10  $\mu$ g SWNCT/g dry sediment. SWCNTs were not detected in either depurated or non-depurated mysid or amphipod extracts. Additional tests were performed with *Leptocheirus plumulosus* exposed to sediment and/or food (*Isochrysis galbana*, an alga) spiked with 14C-radiolabeled SWCNTs in 28-day static renewal tests. No significant mortality was observed in this exposure. Sediment and algal concentrations of CNTs were verified at 0 and 28 days. Only in those experiments where high SWCNT amended sediments (100  $\mu$ g/g sediment + control algae; 100  $\mu$ g/g sediment + 100  $\mu$ g/g algae) were presented, elevated body burdens were found (a factor of 5 higher than in controls) following depuration periods of 24 hours. In other treatments (10  $\mu$ g/g sediment; 10  $\mu$ g/g dry weight algae) bioaccumulation was limited. Bioaccumulation factors (where BAF = [amphipod]/([sediment]+[algae]) were less than 1, and these decreased following depuration by approximately one order of magnitude.

The data indicate that these SWCNTs are not bioaccumulative: benthic organisms take up the SWCNTs through ingestion and then rapidly eliminate them during depuration (radioactivity measured in fecal pellets, where SWCNTs added to sediment or food was significant relative to controls). Additional research is needed to examine what occurs when organisms with a gut burden of CNTs is ingested by a predator: the guts of some marine species contain surfactants similar to SDC and gum arabic making the SWCNTs more bioavailable for gut uptake into a predator's tissues. In this study, measured concentrations of several SWCNTs in water, food, tissues, and sediments were conducted using a novel near infrared fluorescence (NIRF) spectroscopic method. The NIRF methodology is based on each SWCNT having a unique diameter, chiral wrapping angle, and excitation-emission spectrum. The resulting unique spectral signature allows for identification of individual types of SWCNTs. This methodology, in its automated form and using deoxycholic acid sodium salt (SDC) for the extraction and resuspension of SWCNTs from sediments, water, and tissues, is available in Schierz et al. <sup>11</sup>(2012).

Diamond et al.<sup>12</sup> studied bioaccumulation of SWCNT supplied by **SWeNT** in *Amperisca abdita* and *Americamysis bahia*. *Cyclotella sp* (algae) and *Artemia salina* (brine shrimp) were spiked at 1 ug/g of SWCNT, respectively, as prey for *Amperisca abdita* and *Americamysis bahia*. Trophic transfer was measured using novel near infrared fluorescence (NIRF) spectroscopic method. No bioaccumulation of SWCNT was observed.

#### Summary Summary

#### **Biodegradation**

Nikkiso and Super Growth showed no biodegradation through various tests like OECD TG301C, TG301F and TG302C using epipelagic water of rivers, lakes and inland seas or sludge from waste water treatment plant.

#### **Bioaccumulation**

The data on SWCNTs SG65, SG76, and CG100 produced by SouthWest NanoTechnologies indicate that these SWCNTs are not bioaccumulative.

## **3** HAZARDS TO THE ENVIRONMENT

The studies summarized below provide an overview of the adverse effects of SWCNTs that have been reported in the literature. Direct application of most of these study results to the OECD principle or alternate SWCNTs has to be considered in the context of the similarities and differences between the physical chemical properties of the materials used in the studies below. This review focuses on underivatized SWCNTs, since these are most directly relevant to the OECD SWCNTs. However, it should be noted that, depending on the modes of action of CNT toxicity, effects seen with other forms of CNTs and CNFs may be relevant. Assessment in this report is focused on the products which may contain impurities.

## **3.1** Aquatic Effects

#### Acute Toxicity Test Results

#### Fish

Available data on the acute toxicity to fish are summarized in Table 2-1.

An acute toxicity test of **Nikkiso SWCNT** was conducted for Japanese Medaka, Oryzias latipes according to OECD TG 203 in compliance with GLP (AIST, 2011<sup>13</sup>). Ten fish per concentration were exposed in static system renewed daily at nominal concentrations of 10 mg/L with a blank control, in 24 +1°C. The measured mean concentrations were determined as time weighted mean from analytical measured values using a GC/MS at time ranging from 0-96 hours. No mortality was observed at the concentrations of 10 mg/L. The 96h LC<sub>50</sub> was determined at >10 mg/L.

An acute toxicity test of **Super Growth** was conducted for Japanese Medaka, Oryzias latipes according to OECD TG 203 in compliance with GLP (AIST,  $2011^{14}$ ). Ten fish per concentration were exposed in static system renewed daily at nominal concentrations of 10 mg/L with a blank control, in 24 +1°C. The measured mean concentrations were determined as time weighted mean from analytical measured values using a GC/MS at time ranging from 0-96 hours. No mortality was observed at the concentrations of 10 mg/L. The 96h LC<sub>50</sub> was determined at >10 mg/L.

Cheng et al.<sup>15</sup> (2007) studied the effects of SWCNTs on developing zebrafish (Danio rerio) embryos according to OECD TG 236. SWCNTs (produced by arc discharge in the presence of Co and Ni as catalysts, then purified by acid leaching and thermal oxidation) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich and had the following characteristics according to the supplier: 11 nm average diameter, 0.5 - 100 um average length, purity of 90 atom percent. The SWCNTs were covered with negatively charged carboxylic acid grouped at the defect sites on their sidewalls, and still had cobalt and nickel present that were not encapsulated. SWCNTs were dispersed in filtered tap water by stirring with a magnetic stirrer bar for 30 minutes, generating six concentrations of SWCNTs (20, 40, 120, 240, and 360 mg/L). Carbon black and dilution water controls were also tested, and embryos were exposed from 4 to 96 hpf (hours post fertilization). The embryos were examined at 24, 48, 52, 56, 72, 75 and 96 hpf. SEM images revealed that most of the SWCNT agglomerates tested were micron-sized, while the zebrafish chorion pore size was much smaller (nanometer sized): the chorion may have served as an effective barrier to CNT penetration. Delayed hatching was found at concentrations of 120 mg/L and higher, but 99% of the exposed embryos hatched by 75 hpf. Delayed hatching cannot be denied by cobalt and nickel catalyst contaminants used in manufacture: nominal no-effect concentrations for hatching time were 40 µg/L for Ni and 3,840 µg/L for Co in referenced studies; concentrations were estimated (based on manufacturer's impurity descriptors) to be greater than 3 mg/L Ni and 9 mg/L Co in the study by Cheng, et al. (2007).

Canada<sup>16</sup> conducted three acute toxicity studies of SWCNT supplied by **NRC** according to OECD Fish Embryo Toxicity Test (TG 236) using zebrafish. The first study was done at the concentration of 200 mg/L for 96 hours exposure period, the second study was done at the concentration of 1, 10 and 100 mg/L

for 96 hours exposure period, the third experiment was done at the concentration of 1, 10, 50, 100 and 200 mg/L for 72 hours exposure period. Either experiment showed no significant change in mortality, morphology and behaviour.

Smith et al.<sup>17</sup> exposed juvenile rainbow trout to SWCNTs at concentrations of 0, 0.1, 0.25, or 0.5 mg/L. SWCNTs were brought into the aqueous phase through the use of the detergent-like solvent sodium dodecvl sulfate (SDS) and sonication. SWCNTs were obtained from Cheap Tubes, and had the following characteristics according to the supplier: 1.1 nm mean outside diameter, 5-30 um length, minimum 96.3% carbon; maximum impurities were Al 0.08, CL 0.41, Co 2.91, and S 0.29%. Fish were exposed for up to 10 days under semi-static conditions. Stock solution concentrations of SWCNTs were confirmed, and redosing with SWCNT-bearing water occurred every 12 hours (in-tank concentrations of SWCNTs could not be determined). A variety of endpoints were monitored including clinical observations, clinical chemistry, differential blood analysis, and histopathology. Effects on the gill and brain were found that may be related to the accumulation of SWCNTs on gills (inhibiting oxygen uptake) and/or to the sodium dodecvlsulfate vehicle interaction with SWCNTs and fish tissue. A dose-dependent relationship of increasing ventilation rate was seen with increasing SWCNT concentrations from 0.1 to 0.25 to 0.5 mg/L, relative to an SDS control. In a related observation, effects on gill morphology were seen at all three concentrations (relative to both the solvent and water-only control individuals), but there was not a clear dose-response relationship between gill morphology alterations and dose. A third line of evidence points to respiratory toxicity: fish showed signs of gill irritation and mucus secretion at all SWCNT-SDS doses, but not in the solvent or water-only controls. By day 4 there were strands of sloughed mucus, and elevated mucus clearly visible on the gills. While this study was very well conducted, it is difficult to attribute the effects seen solely to the SWCNTs (ruling out effects due to SWCNT-SDS combined effects): concentrations of SDS were well below those which would cause toxicity to trout, and SDS-only controls showed no adverse effects on respiratory toxicity endpoints. However, the effects of SDS on SWCNT physical-chemical properties (and any resultant effects on adverse effects) may not be fully understood at this time.

Fourteen days prolonged toxicity test of **Nikkiso SWCNT** was carried out with Japanese Medaka, *Oryzias latipes* according to OECD TG 204 under flow-through conditions (AIST, 2011<sup>18</sup>). Test parameters included fish growth (weight and length). The fish weights at the start of the experiment varied between 0.057 and 0.099 g. Nominal concentrations ranged from 0.10 to 10 mg/L. Concentrations were measured at the start, halfway through and at the end of the test period. Survival of the fish was not significantly affected up to and including 10 mg/L. The 14-d EC50, 14-d NOEC and 14-d LOEC was >10 mg/L, ca. 10 mg/L, respectively.

Fourteen days prolonged toxicity test of **Super Growth** was carried out with Japanese Medaka, *Oryzias latipes* according to OECD TG 204 under flow-through conditions (AIST, 2011<sup>19</sup>). Test parameters included fish growth (weight and length). The fish weights at the start of the experiment varied between 0.057 and 0.099 g. Nominal concentrations ranged from 0.10 to 10 mg/L. Concentrations were measured at the start, halfway through and at the end of the test period. No significant effects on mortality, growth inhibition and toxicological symptoms were observed up to 10 mg/L. The 14-d EC50, 14-d NOEC and 14-d LOEC was >10 mg/L, ca. 10 mg/L and >10 mg/L, respectively.

Test Matetrial	Species	Duration	NOEC (mg/L, unless otherwise noted)	LOEC (mg/L)	LC50 (mg/L)	Authors , Year, others
Nikkiso	Oryzias latipes	96 hours			>10	AIST, 2011 TG203

 Table 2-1. Acute Toxicity to Aquatic Vertebrates

Super Growth	Oryzias latipes	96 hours			>10	AIST , 2011 TG203
SWCNTs from Sigma- Aldrich	Zebrafish ( <i>Danio</i> <i>rerio</i> ) embryo	4 to 96 hours post fertilization		120		Cheng et al., 2007 TG236
Nikkiso	Oryzias latipes	14 days	10	>10	>10	AIST, 2011 TG204
Super Growth	Oryzias latipes	14 days	10	>10	>10	AIST , 2011 TG204
Cheap Tubes	Rainbow Trout (Salmo gairdnerii)	10 days	respiratory toxicity Gill irritation and mucus secretion	Smith et al., 2007		

#### Invertebrates

Available data on the acute toxicity to aquatic invertebrates are summarized in Table 2-2.

Zhu et al.<sup>20</sup> (2009) examined the acute toxicity of SWCNTs using the same as manufactured SWCNTs as Mwangi et al (2012) and followed the OECD TG 202 (with modifications in accordance with the OECD guidance document for difficult to test substances<sup>21</sup>). The **SWCNTs** were produced by **Shenzhen Nanotech Port Co., Ltd.** and had the following information supplied from the manufacturer: diameter < 2 nm, length 5-15 um, purity: SWCNT > 60, CNT > 90%. A stock solution was prepared in reconstituted water using vigorous shaking at room temperature (specifics not provided) to a nominal concentration of 1,000 mg/L; dilutions of the stock were used for the 48-hour exposures of daphnids (0.1, 0.5, 1, 5, 10, 50, and 100 mg/L). Beakers containing test organisms were shaken constantly at 140 rpm, and daphnids were not fed during the test. A dose-dependent increase in toxicity was seen with increasing nominal SWCNT concentrations, with both immobilization and mortality assessed. Large amounts of SWCNTs were found in the gut of the daphnids.

*Daphnia magna* were exposed to **Nikkiso SWCNT** at nominal concentrations of 0, 0.42, 0.94, 2.1, 4.5 and 10 mg/L for 48 hours in a static system according to OECD TG 202. Daphnids were obtained from University of Sheffield and maintained over 10 years at the laboratory, and twenty daphnids per concentration within 24 hr old were used for the test. Immobility was 0, 0, 0, 0, 5, 0 and 25 % after 48 hours. The 48-hour EC<sub>50</sub> was >10 mg/L based on the arithmetic mean of measured concentrations (AIST,  $2011^{22}$ ).

*Daphnia magna* were exposed to **Super Growth** at nominal concentrations of 0, 0.42, 0.94, 2.1, 4.5 and 10 mg/L for 48 hours in a static system according to OECD TG 202. Daphnids were obtained from University of Sheffield and maintained over 10 years at the laboratory, and twenty daphnids per concentration within 24 hr old were used for the test. Immobility was 0, 0, 0, 0, 5, 0 and 25 % after 48 hours. The 48-hour EC<sub>50</sub> was >10 mg/L based on the arithmetic mean of measured concentrations (AIST,  $2011^{23}$ ).

Table 2-2. Acute Toxicity to Aquatic Invertebrates

Test Material	Species	Duration	Other	Authors, Year, others
---------------	---------	----------	-------	--------------------------

Nikkiso	Daphnia magna	48 hours	EC50>10 mg/L	AIST, 2011 OECD TG 202
Super Growth	Daphnia magna	48 hours	EC50>10 mg/L	AIST, 2011 OECD TG 202
Shenzhen Nanotech Port Co., Ltd.	Daphnia magna	48 hours	$EC_{50} = 1.306$ mg/L (immobilization)	Zhu et al. (2009) Modified TG 202

#### Aquatic plants (e.g algae)

Available data on the acute toxicity to aquatic plants are summarized in Table 2-3.

Youn et al.<sup>24</sup> conducted 96-hour growth inhibition tests with *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata* using nominal concentrations of SWCNTs and an adaptation of a standardized US EPA protocol (Method 1003.0). Raw SWCNTs (**Rice HPR 145.1**) were examined: they had a length distribution between 300-1200 nm, and contained metal impurities of 13.4%, or 17 ppm following preparation of stock solutions in gum arabic. The study employed gum arabic at two different concentrations. SWCNTs were dispersed into stock solutions using gum arabic at 1%, followed by homogenization with a high shear mixer for 1.5 hours and ultrasonication for 10 minutes. The mixture was then ultra-centrifuged at 20,000 rpm for 2.5 hrs and the supernatant separated from the aggregated SWCNTs at the bottom of the centrifuge tube. The LOEC and NOEC concentrations were obtained in test media with final gum arabic concentrations of 0.023% v/v. In contrast, a second study conducted in an identical fashion with a higher concentration of gum arabic (0.0023 – 0.0046% v/v) found no growth inhibition at test concentrations up to 0.5 ppm. Literature was cited that indicated that gum arabic is nontoxic to algae, unlike other surfactants such as sodium dodecyl sulfate.

Using "small scale" bioassays with a variety of organisms and cells (algae, microorganisms, fish hepatocytes, & invertebrates), Blaise et al.<sup>25</sup> (2008) found growth inhibition in *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata* at a reported nominal concentration of 1.04 mg/L, and found no effects for other organisms. SWCNTs were obtained from **Sigma-Aldrich (no. 519308)**: they were characterized by the supplier as 50-70% SWCNTs, in bundles with diameter X length dimensions as  $(1.2. - 1.5 \text{ nm}) \times (2-5 \text{ um})$ . A stock solution of 500 ml/L of SWCNTs (nominal concentration) was prepared in purified water by rotator mixing at room temperature (24 hours at 12 rpm), and then filtered through a 0.22 um cellulose membrane. Actual concentrations tested on algae were not reported.

For a freshwater algal species, *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata*, the toxicity of **Nikkiso SWCNT** was studied (AIST, 2011<sup>26</sup>). An algal growth inhibition test (OECD TG 201) was carried out in compliance with GLP. Nominal concentration in the test water was 0, 0.10, 0.32, 1.0, 3.2 and 10 mg/L, respectively. Concentration related growth inhibitions were observed and the 72h EC<sub>50</sub> and 72h NOEC were determined as >10 and ca. 0.32 mg/L, respectively.

For a freshwater algal species, *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata*, the toxicity of **Super Growth** was studied (AIST, 2011<sup>27</sup>). An algal growth inhibition test (OECD TG 201) was carried out in compliance with GLP. Nominal concentration in the test water was 0, 0.10, 0.32, 1.0, 3.2 and 10 mg/L, respectively. Concentration related growth inhibitions were observed and the 72hEC<sub>50</sub> and 72h NOEC were determined as >10 and ca. 0.32 mg/L, respectively.

Test Material	Species	Duration	NOEC (mg/L)	LOEC (mg/L)	LC <sub>50</sub> (mg/L)	Other	Authors, Year, others
Nikkiso	Green alga (Pseudokirchne riella subcapitata)	72 hours	0.32			EC50>10 mg/L	AIST <sup>,</sup> 2011 OECD TG 201
Super Growth	Green alga Pseudokirchner iella subcapitata)	72 hours	0.32			EC50>10 mg/L	AIST, 2011 OECD TG 201
Rice HPR 145.1	Green alga (Pseudokirchne riella subcapitata)	96 hours	0.05	0.25			Youn, S et al., 2011 US EPA protocol (Method 1003.0)
Sigma-Aldrich (no. 519308)	Green alga (Pseudokirchne riella subcapitata)	72 hours				$\begin{array}{rcl} IC_{25} &=& 1.04 \\ mg/L & \mbox{ for } \\ growth \\ inhibition \end{array}$	Blaise et al., 2008

Table 2-3. Acute Toxicity to Aquatic Plants

#### Chronic Toxicity Test Results

#### Fish

Data on the chronic toxicity to aquatic vertebrates are summarized in Table 2-4.

Fraser, et al.<sup>28</sup> exposed juvenile female trout to SWCNTs in feed at a concentration of 500 mg/kg for six weeks and monitored for mortality, growth, blood parameters, tissue alterations, and changes in biochemical parameters. The SWCNTs were obtained from **Cheap Tubes**, and had the same characteristics as those used in Smith, et al. (2007). Dietary exposure to SWCNTs had no significant effect on growth, hematology, or other measured endpoints in trout. Lipid peroxidation, as indicated by changes in thiobarbituric acid reactive substance (TBARS) measurements, was elevated in the brain which suggested that lipid peroxidation was a consequence of exposure to CNTs. However, the levels of TBARS which were elevated at week 4 did not differ significantly from brain TBARS measured in control fish at other time points. It was noted that longer duration studies, other fish species, and additional endpoints (such as bioenergetics and swimming speed) have not be examined.

Table 2-4 Chronic Toxicity to Aquatic Vertebrates

Test Matetrial	Species	NOEC (mg/L,           Duration         unless otherwise           noted)		LOEC (mg/L)	LC50 (mg/L)	Author otl	rs, Yo hers	ear,
Cheap Tubes	Rainbow Trout ( <i>Salmo</i> gairdnerii), multiple endpoints	6 weeks	No effect of feeding except for elevation of in brain	Fraser 2011	et	al.,		

#### Aquatic Invertebrates

Available data on the chronic toxicity to aquatic invertebrates are summarized in Table 2-5.

Mwangi et al<sup>29</sup> examined the effects of SWCNTs (the SWCNTs used were the same as described in Zhu, et al., 2009) on sediment-dwelling invertebrates in 14-day tests adapted from ASTM standard test protocols E1706-05 and E729-96, and each 200 ml volume of test solution containing the organisms and CNTs also contained 5 ml of fine sand. A single concentration of 1,000 mg/L SWCNTs was used, and only nominal concentrations were reported for the static tests (run with feeding, and replenishment of non-laden CNT water only). Two SWCNT stock solutions were prepared: one with sonication (2 min at 65 W) and stirring, and the other with only stirring; no other dispersion agents were used. Significant differences in body weight and survival were noted for amphipods, midges and oligochaetes relative to the plain water control; sonicated SWCNTs had significantly higher adverse effects than unsonicated SWCNTs.

A chronic toxicity test of **Nikkiso SWCNT** with *Daphnia magna* was conducted at 0.0030, 0.0095, 0.030, 0.095 and 0.30 mg/L under semi-static conditions (water renewal: every 2 days) for 21 days according to OECD TG 211. NOEC values in this chronic toxicity test to *Daphnia magna* on reproduction were ca. 0.3 mg/L (TASC, 2011<sup>30</sup>).

A chronic toxicity test of **Super Growth** with *Daphnia magna* was conducted at 0.01, 0.032, 0.10, 0.32 and 1.0 mg/L under semi-static conditions (water renewal: every 2 days) for 21 days according to OECD TG 211. NOEC values in this chronic toxicity test to *Daphnia magna* on reproduction were ca. 0.32 mg/L (TASC, 2011<sup>31</sup>).

Templeton et al <sup>32</sup> (2006) found no significant effects in full life-cycle studies on survival/developmental/reproductive endpoints with the estuarine meiobenthic copepod Amphiascus *tenuiremis* exposed to chemically purified arc-discharge produced SWCNTs at sedimentary concentrations of 0, 0.58, 0.97, or 1,5, or 10 mg/L (presumed to be nominal concentrations). SWCNTs were produced by a bench-scale arc discharge method, and purified by reflux in 3.3 N nitric acid (which removed metallic and carbonaceous contaminants). This chemical process oxidized the SWCNTs at their termini and defect locations, and incorporated hydroxyl and carboxylic acid functional groups (which increased SWCNT water solubility). Tests were conducted according to a standardized ASTM protocol (ASTM E-2317-04), in 200 ul microplate assays where media were replaced every 4 days. "As prepared" or unpurified SWCNTs with metallic contaminants showed significant toxicity at 10 mg/L relative to survival, developmental success, development rate, and fertilization success. Interestingly, an extract of the unpurified SWCNTs (which contained small fluorescent nanocarbon byproducts and no metallic impurities) resulted in significantly increased life cycle mortality at 10 mg/L, and caused significant reduction in life cycle molding success even at the lowest concentration tested (0.58 µg/L). This fluorescent fraction was fully soluble in aqueous test solutions; its particles were less than 18 nm in length, with equal widths and heights near 1 nm.

Test Matetrial	Species	Duration	NOEC (mg/L)	LOEC (mg/L)	LC50 (mg/L)	Other	Authors, Year, others
Nikkiso	Daphnia magna	21 days	0.3	>0.3	>0.3	EC50>0.3 mg/L	TASC, 2011 OECD TG 211
Super Growth	Daphnia magna	21 days	ca. 0.32	ca. 1	ca. 0.62	EC50>1 mg/L	TASC, 2011 OECD TG 211
Shenzhen Nanotech Port Co.,	Sediment dwelling amphipod	14 days	80% morta 100% mor	80% mortality at 1,000 mg/L (unsonicated CNTs); 100% mortality (sonicated CNTs)			Mwangi et al., 2012

Table 2-5 Chronic Toxicity to Aquatic Invertebrates

Ltd.	(Hyalella azteca)		0% mortali	ty (controls)				
Shenzhen Nanotech Port Co., Ltd.	Sediment dwelling midge (Chironomus dilutus)	14 days	90% morta 100% mort 17% morta	90% mortality at 1,000 mg/L (unsonicated CNTs); 100% mortality (sonicated CNTs); 17% mortality (controls)				et
Shenzhen Nanotech Port Co., Ltd.	Sediment dwell oligochaete ( <i>Lumbriclus</i> variegatus)	14 days	Biomass (mg) 1.4 (unsonicated CNTs); 2.8 (sonicated CNTs); 3.7 (controls)				Mwangi al. , 2012	et
Chemically purified SWCNT by bench-scale arc- discharge method	Marine and estuarine sediment dwelling copepod ( <i>Amphiascus</i> <i>tenuiremis</i> )	Life Cycle durations of 28 to 35 days	1.6 mg/L for as prepared SWCN Ts	10 mg/L for as prepared SWCN Ts			Templeton al., 2006	et
Chemically purified SWCNT by bench-scale arc- discharge method	Marine and estuarine sediment dwelling copepod ( <i>Amphiascus</i> <i>tenuiremis</i> )	Life Cycle durations of 28 to 35 days	10 mg/L for purified SWCN Ts				Templeton al., 2006	et

#### Effects on activated sludge at WWTP

Available data on the <u>effects on activated sludge at WWTP</u> are summarized in Table 2-6. The toxicity of **Nikkiso SWCNT** to activated sludge was evaluated by a simple respirometric procedure set up on the basis of OECD TG 209. A 3h EC<sub>50</sub> value of >100 mg/L was derived from this study (AIST,  $2011^{33}$ ).

The toxicity of **Super Growth** to activated sludge was evaluated by a simple respirometric procedure set up on the basis of OECD TG 209. A 3h EC<sub>50</sub> value of >100 mg/L was derived from this study (AIST,  $2011^{34}$ ).

 Table 2-6
 Effects on activated sludge

Test Matetrial	Species	Duration	NOEC (mg/L)	LOEC (mg/L)	LC50 (mg/L)	Other	Authors, Year, others
Nikkiso	Activated sludge	3 hours				EC <sub>50</sub> >100mg/ L	AIST, 2011 OECD TG 209
Super Growth	Activated sludge	3 hours				EC <sub>50</sub> >100mg/ L	AIST, 2011 OECD TG 209

## **3.2** Terrestrial Effects

Available data on the terrestrial effects are summarized in Table 2-7.

Canas, et al.<sup>35</sup> (2008) studied the effects of SWCNTs on root elongation in six crop species recommended by the US EPA for phytotoxicity studies. **P3-SWCNTs** were purchased **from Carbon Solutions, Inc** 

and had the following characteristics according to the manufacturer: 80-90% purity, 3% metal content by weight. CNT suspensions were prepared by mixing 100 mg of CNTs with 4 ml of water and then sonicating for 30 min. Then, an additional 16 ml of water was added, and sonication continued for an additional 90 min. to provide the stock solution. Dilutions of this stock solution with water were made to produce test concentrations of 56, 315, and 1,750 mg/L of CNTs (nominal concentrations). A water-only control was also run, and each plant (which was grown from seed in the absence of CNTs until most generated radicals) was exposed to 1 ml of test solution in a petri dish with filter paper), and examined at 24 and 48 hours. Regressions were run comparing root elongation to CNT concentrations over the two time courses. Significant decreases in root elongation were seen in tomato plants at both 24 and 48 hrs; significant increases in root elongation were seen in onions at 24 and 48 hrs, and a significant increase in root elongation were seen in onions at 24 and 48 hrs, and a significant increase in root elongation were seen in onions at 24 and 48 hrs, and a significant increase in root elongation were seen in onions at 24 and 48 hrs, and a significant increase in root elongation were seen in onions at 24 and 48 hrs, and a significant increase in root elongation were seen in onions at 24 and 48 hrs, and a significant increase in root elongation were seen in onions at 24 and 48 hrs, and a significant increase in root elongation were seen in onions at 24 and 48 hrs, and a significant increase in root elongation were seen in onions at 24 and 48 hrs, and a significant increase in root elongation were seen in onions at 24 and 48 hrs, and a significant increase in root elongation were seen in onions at 24 and 48 hrs, and a significant increase in root elongation were seen in onions that would not be evident in root elongation tests of this duration.

Liu, et al.<sup>36</sup> (2009) examined the ability of SWCNTs to penetrate *Nicotinana tabacum L.cv. bright Yellow* 2 (BY-2) cells in vitro. Water-soluble SWCNTs were prepared from **Hipco SWCNTs (Carbon Nanotechnologies, Inc.**; length < 500 nm). SWCNTs were oxidized (concentrated sulfuric acid/nitric acid mixture; ultrasonication for 24h, filtration, and further sonication), and labeled noncovalently with fluorescein isothiocyanate (by centrifugation and sonication). Cells were treated with an estimated 2, 10, 20, 40, and 80 mg/L of labeled SWCNTs for 2 hours at 26°C or 4°C. Cells showed increasing penetration of cell walls and membranes with increasing concentrations of SWCNTs at 26°C. Cells showed little uptake of SWCNTs at 4°C, indicating the involvement of endocytosis as a mechanism for penetration. The toxicity of **Nikkiso SWCNT** to soil microorganisms was evaluated on the basis of OECD TG 216. A 28d EC50 value of >1000 mg/kg soil dw was derived from this study (AIST, 2011<sup>37</sup>).

The toxicity of **Super Growth** to soil microorganisms was evaluated on the basis of OECD TG 216. A 28d EC50 value of >1000 mg/ kg soil dw was derived from this study (AIST, 2011<sup>38</sup>).

Test Matetrials	Species	Duration	NOEC (mg/L)	LOEC (mg/L)	LC50 (mg/L)	Other	Authors, Year, others
Nikkiso	Soil (Microrganism s)	28 days				EC50>1000 mg/kg soil dw	AIST, 2011 OECD TG 216
Super Growth	Soil (Microrganism s)	28 days				EC50>1000 mg/kg soil dw	AIST, 2011 OECD TG 216
P3- SWCNTs from Carbon Solutions, Inc	six crop species	24, 48 hours				Decrease in root elongation; tomato (24,48 h)Increase ; onion (24,48h)and cucumber(24h)	Canas et al. ,2008
HiPco SWCNTs (Carbon Nanotechn ologies, Inc.)	Nicotinana tabacum L.cv. bright Yellow (BY-2) cells	2 hours				Cells showed increasing penetration of cell walls and membranes with increasing concentrations of SWCNTs	Liu et al 2009

<b>Table 2-7</b>	Terrestrial	<b>Effects</b>
------------------	-------------	----------------

## 3.3 Summary

#### Acute toxicity

Acute aquatic toxicity data are available for several SWCNTs. For fish, 96-hour  $LC_{50}$  values are > 10 mg/L for **Nikkiso** and **Super Growth** by the tests according to OECD TG 203 using Japanese Medaka. The test using Zebrafish embryo according to OECD TG 236 suggests 4-96 hours post fertilization LOEC is 120 mg/L for **SWCNTs from Sigma Aldrich** but the effect of contaminant cannot be denied. For daphnids, 48-hour EC<sub>50</sub> values are > 10 mg/L for **Nikkiso** and **Super Growth**, and 1.306 mg/L for **SWCNTs from Shenzhen Nanotech** by the tests according to OECD TG 202. For algae, 72-hour NOECs are > 10 mg/L for both **Nikkiso** and **Super Growth** by the tests according to OECD TG 201. 96 hours NOEC for **Rice HPR 145.1**. is 0.05 mg/L by the test following US EPA protocol (Method 1003.0).

Prolonged aquatic toxicity data are available for several SWCNTs. For fish, values of 14-day NOEC are 10 mg/L for both **Nikkiso** and **Super Growth** by the tests according to OECD TG 204 using *Oryzias latipes*. In 10 days respiratory toxicity test, Rainbow trout showed Gill irritation and mucus secretion at 0.1 to 0.5 mg/L of **Cheap Tubes SWCNTs**.

#### Chronic toxicity

In a 6 weeks dietary exposure test using *Salmo gairdnerii*, feeding of **Cheap Tubes SWCNTs** at a concentration of 500 mg/kg-food showed no effect except for elevation of TBARS measurement in brain.

For daphnids, 21-day NOECs are 0.3 mg/L for **Nikkiso** and 0.32 mg/L for **Super Growth** by the test according to OECD TG 211. In 14 days test using invertebrates, mortality at 1,000 mg/L of **Shenzhen Nanotech Port SWCNT** are 80% without sonication and 100% with sonication for *Hyalella Azteca*, and 90% without sonication and 100% with sonication for *Chironomus dilutes*. In the life time test using *Amphiascus tenuiremis* with **SWCNT by bench-scale arc-discharge method**, NOECs are 1.6 mg/L for as prepared SWCNTs and 10 mg/L for purified SWCNTs.

#### Effects on activated sludge

Based on OECD TG 209, values of 3-hour  $EC_{50}$  are > 100 mg/L for both Nikkiso and Super Growth.

#### Terrestrial Effects

Based on OECD TG 216, values of 28 days  $EC_{50}$  are > 1000 mg/kg soil dw for both **Nikkiso** and **Super Growth**. Effects of **P3-SWCNTs from Carbon Solution Inc.** on root elongation of six crop species were tested. Decrease in root elongation was seen for tomato (24 and 48 hours) and increases in root elongation were seen for onion (24 and 48 hours) and cucumber (24 hours). The penetration of **Hipco SWCNTs from Carbon Nanotechnologies, Inc.** was tested using *Nicotinana tabacum L.cv. bright Yellow-2*. Cells showed increasing penetration of cell walls and membranes with increasing concentrations of SWCNTs at 26°C, but little uptake at 4°C.

## 4 HUMAN HEALTH HAZARDS

## 4.1 Effects on Human Health

#### 4.1.1 Toxicokinetics

#### Studies in Animals

#### In vivo Studies

The distribution of hydroxylated SWCNT with radioactive <sup>125</sup>I atoms (<sup>125</sup>I-SWNTols) was investigated in male KM mice (Wang et al. <sup>39</sup> 2004). Mice were administered <sup>125</sup>I-SWNTols by four modes: intraperitoneal (i.p.), subcutaneous injection, gavage, or intravenous (i.v.). After i.p. administration, <sup>125</sup>I-SWNTols moved easily among the compartments and tissues of the body except in brain. <sup>125</sup>I-SWNTols accumulate readily and are retained for long time periods in the bone. About 80% of <sup>125</sup>I-SWNTols are excreted from urine (94%) and feces (6%) within 11 days. The distribution was not markedly influenced by the administration modes.

Cherukuri et al.<sup>40</sup> (2006) monitored SWCNT intravenously administrated to New Zealand White rabbits at 75  $\mu$ g (ca. 20  $\mu$ g/kg bw). The characteristic near-infrared fluorescence spectra indicated that blood proteins displaced the nanotube coating of synthetic surfactant molecules within seconds. The SWCNT concentration in the blood serum decreased exponentially with a half-life of 1.0 +/- 0.1 h. No adverse effects from low-level SWCNT exposure could be detected from behavior or pathological examination. At 24 hours after intravenous administration, SWCNTs were found only in the liver using the optical detection method.

#### Studies in Humans

No information is available.

#### Summary

After i.p. administration of <sup>125</sup>I-SWNTols in male mice, <sup>125</sup>I-SWNTols moved easily among the compartments and tissues of the body except in brain. <sup>125</sup>I-SWNTols accumulate readily and are retained for long time periods in the bone. About 80% of <sup>125</sup>I-SWNTols are excreted from urine (94%) and feces (6%) within 11 days. The distribution was not markedly influenced by the administration modes (intraperitoneal, subcutaneous injection, gavage, or intravenous). After i.v administration of SWCNT in rabbits, the SWCNT concentration in the blood serum decreased exponentially with a half-life of 1.0 +/- 0.1 h. At 24 hours after administration, significant concentrations of SWCNTs were found only in the liver.

#### 4.1.2 Acute Toxicity

#### Studies in Animals

#### Inhalation

An inhalation exposure to **SWCNT (CNI, HiPco)** in C57BL/6 mice (4 days, 5h/day at  $5.52 \pm 1.37 \text{ mg/m}^3$ ) resulted in qualitatively similar pulmonary reaction as pharyngeal aspiration (0-20 µg/mouse). However, SWCNT inhalation was more effective than aspiration in causing inflammatory response, oxidative stress, collagen deposition, and fibrosis as well as mutations of K-*ras* gene locus in the lung of mice (Shvedova et al.<sup>41</sup> 2008; NIOSH).

#### Intratracheal

A single dose of **Nikkiso SWCNT** by intratracheal instillation was conducted in male Wistar rats (20 rats/group) at 0.2 mg/rat (c.a. 0.67 mg/kg bw) or 0.4 mg/rat (c.a. 1.33 mg/kg bw) (NEDO [#NN-14] unpublished study). Inflammation and fibrosis were examined from the third day to six months after instillation. Both dose groups showed inflammatory cellular infiltration, and particularly it lasted for six months for high dose. Also, heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) gene expression increased continuously in both dose groups. Observation is ongoing up to two years.

Kobayashi et al.<sup>42</sup> (2012) reported two intratracheal studies conducted by NEDO project [#NN-05-1 and #NN-05-2]. Male SD rats were given **Super Growth SWCNT** by intratracheal instillation at 0.2 or 2 mg/kg, and observation was carried out from 24 h to 3 months after administration (1<sup>st</sup> study). Male SD rats were given **Super Growth SWCNT** by intratracheal instillation at 0.04, 0.2 or 1 mg/kg and observation was carried out from 3 days to 6 months after administration. There were dose-dependent inflammatory responses in the lungs in both studies. Significant increases in pulmonary tissue inflammation and inflammatory biomarkers persisted at 1 and 2 mg/kg for 6 months.

Male SD rats were exposed to SWCNT (CNI, HiPco) by intratracheal instillation at 0.2 or 1 mg/kg and observed for 3 months (NEDO [#NN-10] unpublished study). There was a dose-dependent inflammatory response in the lungs. The inflammation was recovered by one month after instillation at 0.2 mg/kg, but not at 1 mg/kg.

Male Crl:CD(SD) rats were exposed to **Nikkiso SWCNT** (NEDO [#NN-17]), **Super Growth SWCNT** (NEDO [#NN-15] unpublished study) and Meijo SWCNT (NEDO [#NN-17]) (NEDO [#NN-16] unpublished study) by intratracheal instillation. SWCNT suspensions were prepared with 3 types of methods. Four weeks after instillation, inflammation effects in the lung are Super Growth SWCNT > Nikkiso SWCNT > Alternate Meijo SWCNT(suspended in 0.2% DCA with 1% Tween 80). Both high and low doses showed inflammatory cellular infiltration and it lasted for six months for high dose. The following data are not for principal SWCNT.

Warheit et al.<sup>43</sup> (2004) investigated the acute lung toxicity of intratracheally instilled SWCNTs (DuPont; 1.4 nm diameter; >1um length) in male Crl:CD(SD)IGS BR rats. Exposures to SWCNTs caused death (about 15% of rats) within 24 h postinstillation at 5 mg/kg bw, but it was considered to be due to mechanical blockage of the upper airways and was not due to inherent pulmonary toxicity of SWCNT. No death was observed at 1 mg/kg bw, and no abnormality was observed in eating behavior and weight gain in animals that survived at 1 and 5 mg/kg bw throughout the duration of the study (3 month). Exposures to SWCNT produced transient inflammatory and cell injury effects.

Lam et al.<sup>44</sup>(2004) investigated the acute lung toxicity through intratracheal instillation test to male B6C3F mice using three different SWCNTs [1: **Rice Univ, HiPco; 2: Rice Univ, refined HiPco; 3: CaboLex**] made by different processes and containing different types and amount of residual catalytic metal at doses of 0, 0.1 and 0.5 mg/animal. All nanotube products induced dose-dependent epithelioid granulomas. In some cases, interstitial inflammation, peribronchial inflammation and necrosis that had extended into the alveolar septa were observed.

ICR mice were exposed to SWCNT (unknown identification) by intratracheal instillation at 0.5 mg/kg (Chou et al.<sup>45</sup>, 2008). Foamy macrophages phagocytosing CNT were observed at 3 days post-instillation and multifocal granuloma and foamy macrophages at 14 days.

Male Wistar rats were exposed to **SWCNT (CNI, HiPco)** by intratracheal instillation at 2.25 mg/rat (17.3 mg/kg) (Miyawaki et al.<sup>46</sup>, 2008). Formation of foreign body granuloma in the lungs was observed. Severity of pathological findings was similar at 7 days and 90 days post-instillation (not recovered).

#### Pharyngeal aspiration

No information is available for principle SWCNTs, but there are seven studies for other SWCNTs as follows.

NIOSH (Shvedova et al.<sup>47</sup>, 2005) demonstrated that pharyngeal aspiration of **SWCNT (CNI, HiPco)** elicited unusual pulmonary effects in female C57BL/6 mice that combined an acute inflammation with progressive fibrosis and granulomas. An early neutrophils accumulation followed by lymphocyte and macrophage influx, was accompanied by early elevation of proinflammatory cytokines followed by fibrogenic transforming growth factor. A rapid progressive fibrosis found in mice exhibited two distinct morphologies: 1) SWCNT-induced granulomas mainly associated with hypertrophied epithelial cells surrounding SWCNTs aggregates; and 2) diffuse interstitial fibrosis and alveolar wall thickening likely associated with dispersed SWCNTs.

Male and female Fischer 344 rats were exposed to **SWCNT (Helix Material Solution, CVD)** at 2 mg/kg by pharyngeal aspiration (Mangum et al<sup>48</sup>, 2006). Twenty-one days after aspiration, histopathological examination showed an indication of inflammation in the lung cells.

C57BL/6 mice were exposed to **SWCNT (CNI, HiPco)** at 10 and 40  $\mu$ g/mouse by intrapharyngeal instillation (Li et al.<sup>49</sup> 2007). Aortic mtDNA damage was developed at 7, 28, and 60 days after exposure. A single intrapharyngeal instillation induced activation of HO-1 in the lung, aorta, and heart tissue in HO-1 reporter transgenic mice.

**SWCNT (CNI, HiPco)** was given by pharyngeal aspiration in C57BL/6mice at a dose of 0 or 40  $\mu$ g/mouse (Shvedova et al, <sup>50</sup> 2007; NIOSH). Inflammation, damage, and fibrosis were observed during 1 day to 3 months post-exposure. Followings are observed: rapid but transient inflammation and damage, rapid and persistent granulomas, and rapid and progressive fibrosis. Fibrosis is greater in vitamin E deficient mice and less in NADPH ox Kos

Pharyngeal aspiration of **SWCNT (CNI, HiPco)** in C57BL/6 mice at 0-20  $\mu$ g/mouse caused inflammatory response, oxidative stress, collagen deposition, and fibrosis as well as mutations of K-*ras* gene locus in the lung of mice (Shvedova et al.<sup>51</sup> 2008; NIOSH).

NIOSH (Mercer et al.<sup>52</sup>, 2008) investigated an effect of dispersion of **SWCNT (CNI, HiPco)**. Male C57BL/6 mice were exposed to SWCNT or dispersed SWCNT by pharyngeal aspiration at 10 µg/mouse. Lung sections and lavage cells demonstrated an early, transient neutrophilic and inflammatory phase that rapidly resolved and was similar to that observed with large agglomerates. No granulomatous lesions or epithelioid macrophages were detected. Dispersed SWCNT was rapidly incorporated into the alveolar interstitium and produced an increase in collagen deposition.

#### Dermal

Three acute skin irritation studies were conducted for **Nikkiso SWCNT** or **Super Growth SWCNT** according to OECD TG 404. No deaths or abnormal findings were observed at the maximum concentration that could be prepared (see 4.1.2 skin irritation for further detail).

#### Oral

An acute oral toxicity study was conducted based on OECD TG 423 (Matsumoto et al.<sup>53</sup>, 2012). The maximum dose of 2000 mg/kg required by the guideline was impracticable because of very high specific volume of SWCNT. Three female Crl:CD(SD) rats were gavage dosed with **Nikkiso SWCNT** (suspended in 5% arabic-gum aqueous solution) at a total dose of 50 mg/kg bw (four equally divided doses at one-hour intervals). No deaths occurred, and no abnormalities were observed in the clinical

condition during the observation period in any animals. The  $LD_{50}$  of Nikkiso SWCNT was considered to be greater than 50 mg/kg bw.

Two in vivo micronucleus studies are also available as follows.

Male Crlj:CD1(ICR) mice (6 animals/group) were gavage dosed with **Nikkiso SWCNT** (suspended in the water and was diluted with 0.3% CMC-Na solution) at 5, 10 or 20 mg/kg bw/day two times in the interval of 24 hours (OECD TG 474) (Naya et al, 2011). Male Crlj:CD1(ICR) mice (5 animals/group) were gavage dosed with **Super Growth SWCNT** (suspended in PBS with 1% Tween 80) at 60 or 200 mg/kg bw/day two times in the interval of 24 hours (NEDO [#NN-30] unpublished study). No death or indicative of abnormality is observed in both studies.

#### Studies in Humans

No information is available.

#### Summary

A single dose of SWCNT by intratracheal or pharyngeal aspiration caused inflammation of lung cells in rats or mice. An inhalation study (4days, 5h/day) also showed inflammation of lung cells in mice. The acute oral  $LD_{50}$  of Nikkiso SWCNT was considered to be greater than 50 mg/kg bw in rats. No death was observed after two gavage doses of 200 mg Super Growth SWCNT /kg bw/day in mice.

#### 4.1.3 Irritation

Skin Irritation

#### **Studies in Animals**

Two skin irritation studies were conducted for **Nikkiso SWCNT** according to OECD TG 404. In one study, Nikkiso SWCNT solution (0.5g of 1 wt% in olive oil; maximum concentration that could be prepared) was applied three male Kbl:NZW rabbits of 17 weeks of age (Ema et al.<sup>54</sup>, 2011; NEDO [#NN-40]). In the other study, Nikkiso SWCNT solution (0.5ml of 0.3 wt% in silicon oil) or powder of 0.02 g sopped with silicon oil was applied to each three male Kbl:JW rabbits of 10 weeks of age (NEDO [#NN-17]). No clinical signs or changes in body weight gain were observed in any groups treated with SWCNTs. No dermal responses, including erythema/eschar oredema, were found in rabbits.

Similarly, a skin irritation study was conducted for **Super Growth SWCNT** according to OECD TG 404. Super Growth SWCNT solution (0.5g of 1 wt% in olive oil; maximum concentration that could be prepared) was applied three male Kbl:NZW rabbits of 17 weeks of age (Ema et al.<sup>54</sup>, 2011; NEDO [#NN-39]). No clinical signs or changes in body weight gain were observed in any groups treated with SWCNTs. No dermal responses, including erythema/eschar oedema, were found in rabbits.

#### **Studies in Humans**

No information is available.

#### Eye Irritation

#### **Studies in Animals**

Two eye irritation tests were done using Kbl:NZW rabbits for Nikkiso and Super Growth SWCNTs, following OECD TG 405 (Ema et al.<sup>54</sup>, 2011; NEDO [#NN-35 and #NN-36]). Nikkiso SWCNTs solution

(0.1ml of 0.1 wt% in olive oil) or Super Growth SWCNTs solution (0.1ml of 0.5 wt% in olive oil) was dropped into the conjunctival sac of left eye of each three males. No clinical signs or changes in body weight gain were observed in any groups after the instillation of CNTs. Ocular responses, such as corneal opacity, conjunctival redness, abnormality of the iris, and chemosis, were not detected in rabbits at any observation period.

#### **Studies in Humans**

No information is available.

**Respiratory Tract Irritation** 

**Studies in Animals** 

#### **Studies in Humans**

No information is available.

#### Summary

Both Nikkiso and Super Growth SWCNTs were not irritating to the skin or eyes in rabbits.

#### 4.1.4 Sensitisation

Studies in Animals

#### Skin

Two sensitization tests were executed using each 40 male Slc: Hartley guinea pigs (10 for the negative control, 10 for the positive control and 20 for material treated groups) for **Nikkiso and Super Growth SWCNTs**, following OECD TG 406 (Ema et al.<sup>54</sup>, 2011; NEDO [#NN-43 and #NN-44]). No clinical signs or changes in body weight gain were observed in any group. No erythema or edema was observed after the challenge with Nikkiso and Super Growth SWCNTs. The skin sensitization experiments were properly performed, because positive dermal responses were observed in the area challenged with DNCB (positive control), but not in those areas challenged with acetone (negative control).

#### **Respiratory Tract**

No information is available.

#### Studies in Humans

No information is available.

#### Summary

Both Nikkiso and Super Growth SWCNTs were not sensitizing in guinea pigs.

#### 4.1.5 Repeated Dose Toxicity

#### Studies in Animals

#### Inhalation

An inhalation test of **Super Growth SWCNT** was performed in Wistar rats for 4 weeks (6 hours/day, 5 days/week) at a level of 0.03 +/- 0.003 mg/m<sup>3</sup> or 0.13 +/- 0.03 mg/m<sup>3</sup> of the particle weight concentration in the exposure chamber (OECD TG 412) (Morimoto et al.<sup>55</sup>, 2011). Inflammation and fibrotic response were examined at three days, one month or three months after the last exposure. Neither the low concentration exposure group nor the high concentration exposure group showed increase of the pulmonary wet weight, the infiltration of the inflammatory cell and increase of the HO-1 gene expression. An inhalation test for **Nikkiso SWCNT** has been conducting based on OECD TG 412 (NEDO [#NN-20] unpublished study). Wistar rats were exposed to Nikkiso SWCNT for 4 weeks (6 hours/day, 5 days/week) at a level of 0.40 +/- 0.11 mg/m<sup>3</sup> of the particle weight concentration in the exposure chamber. Inflammation and fibrotic response were examined at three days, one month or three months after the last exposure chamber. Inflammation and fibrotic response were examined at three days, the particle weight concentration in the exposure chamber. Inflammation and fibrotic response were examined at three days, one month or three months after the last exposure. The study results are under evaluation.

#### Intratracheal

**Super Growth SWCNT** (suspended in PBS with 1% Tween 80) was administrated to male Crl:CD(SD) rats by intratracheal instillation for 5 times (once a week) at 0, 0.04 or 0.2 mg/kg (NEDO [#NN-08] unpublished study). BALF was examined at 1, 4, or 13 weeks after last instillation. Body weight and food consumption were not affected. Increases in white blood cells, eosinophils, proteins, LDH and IL-1 $\beta$ were observed up to 13 weeks of the observation period at 0.04 and 0.2 mg/kg. At 0.2 mg/kg, increases in lung weight were observed up to 13 weeks. Histopathological examination revealed aggregation of macrophages at 0.04 and 0.2 mg/kg.

#### Pharyngeal aspiration

Repeated exposure to **SWCNT (CNI, HiPco)** was conducted at 20 µg/mouse once every other week for 8 weeks by pharyngeal aspiration in ApoE–/– transgenic mice (Li et al.<sup>49</sup>, 2007) Although SWCNT exposure did not modify the lipid profiles of these mice, it resulted in accelerated plaque formation in ApoE–/– mice fed an atherogenic diet. Plaque areas in the aortas, measured by the *en face* method, and in the brachiocephalic arteries, measured histopathologically, were significantly increased in the SWCNT-treated mice.

#### Dermal

No information available.

#### Oral

A repeated oral dose toxicity study was conducted based on OECD TG407. The maximum dose of 1000 mg/kg required by the guideline was impracticable because of very high specific volume of SWCNT (Matsumoto et al.<sup>53</sup>, 2012). Male and Female Crl:CD rats (5 or 10 animals/sex/dose) were administered **Nikkiso SWCNT** (suspended in 5% guam acacia) by gavage at a dose of 0 (control), 0.125, 1.25 or 12.5 mg/kg bw/day for 28 days with a 14-day recovery period (0 and 12.5 mg/kg bw/day groups). No treatment related changes of body weight, behavioral and blood biochemical parameters were observed. A few minor changes with statistical significance in white blood cells composition, organ weights and urine volume were detected, although no relevant pathological changes were observed. Based on the above

findings, the NOAEL of repeated oral dose toxicity of the SWCNT was considered to be 12.5 mg/kg bw/day (the highest dose tested) in rats.

#### Studies in Humans

No information is available.

#### Summary

Intratracheal instillation of Super Growth SWCNT (5 times, once/week) at 0.04 and 0.2 mg/kg showed indication of inflammation of the lung cells in rats. However, an OECD TG412 repeated inhalation toxicity study of Super Growth SWCNT for 4 weeks (6 hours/day, 5 days/week) showed no effects on the lung in rats. Results of a repeated inhalation toxicity study of Nikkiso SWCNT are under evaluation. Findings of this study will be useful to conclude repeated inhalation toxicity of SWCNT. A repeated oral dose toxicity study was conducted based on OECD TG407. Male and Female rats were administered Nikkiso CNT at a dose of 0 (control), 0.125, 1.25 or 12.5 mg/kg bw/day for 28 days with a 14-day recovery period (0 and 12.5 mg/kg bw/day groups). Based on no toxicological effects, the NOAEL of repeated dose toxicity of the SWCNT was considered to be 12.5 mg/kg bw/day (the highest dose tested) in rats.

#### 4.1.6 Mutagenicity

Studies in Animals

#### In vitro Studies

#### Bacterial mutation

A reverse gene mutation assay for **Nikkiso SWCNT** was performed using *S. typhimurium* TA98, TA100, TA1535 and TA1537 and *E. coli* WP2uvrA according to OECD TG471 at the concentration of 1.563, 3.125, 6.25, 12.5, 25, 50 and 100  $\mu$ g/plate (NEDO [#NN-22] unpublished study). Though no strains showed the growth inhibition without metabolic activation, cytotoxicity was observed for *S. typhimurium* TA100 and *E. coli* at 100  $\mu$ g/plate, for *S. typhimurium* TA1535 and TA1537 at 50 and 100  $\mu$ g/plate and for TA98 at 12.5 and 25 $\mu$ g /plate with metabolism activation. No mutation induction was observed with or without metabolic activation and in all the strain. It was judged that there was no increase of mutation frequency. Positive control showed expected levels of mutagenicity.

A reverse gene mutation assay for **Super Growth SWCNT** (suspended in 0.1% CMC-Na solution) was performed using *S. typhimurium* TA 97, TA98, TA100, TA1535 and TA1537 and *E. coli* WP2uvrA/pkM101 according to the Japanese Guideline (Chemical Substances Control Law of Japan) at the concentration of 12.5, 25, 50, 100, 200 and 500  $\mu$ g/plate (Naya et al.<sup>56</sup>, 2011; NEDO [#NN-01]). No mutation induction was observed with or without metabolic activation in all the tested concentration and in all the strain. Positive control showed expected levels of mutagenicity.

A reverse gene mutation assay for **SWCNT (CNI, HiPco)** was performed using *S. typhimurium* YG1024 and YG1029 without S9 mix at 0-240  $\mu$  g/plate (Kisin et al.<sup>57</sup>, 2007). No increases in mutation frequencies in either YG1024 or YG1029 were found at all concentrations of SWCNT.

#### Chromosomal aberration

A chromosomal aberration test for **Nikkiso SWCNTs** (suspended in the water, sonicated and diluted with 0.3% CMC-Na solution) was conducted using cultured Chinese hamster lung (CHL/IU) cells according to

the OECD TG 473 (NEDO [#NN-26] unpublished study). The short term test (6 hours) with or without metabolic activation and the long term test (24 hours) with metabolic activation were performed at a concentration of 6.25, 12.5, 25 and 50  $\mu$ g/plate. In either test condition, the expressions of structural chromosomal aberration and polyploidy were below 5%. The positive controls were effective for induction of chromosome aberrations.

A chromosomal aberration test for **Super Growth SWCNTs** (suspended in 0.1% CMC-Na solution) was conducted using cultured Chinese hamster lung (CHL/IU) cells according to the OECD TG 473 and Japanese Guideline (Chemical Substances Control Law of Japan) (Naya et al.<sup>56</sup>, 2011; NEDO #NN-25). The short term test (6 hours) with or without metabolic activation and the long term test (24 hours) with metabolic activation were performed at a concentration of 300, 500 or 1000  $\mu$ g/plate. In either test condition, the expressions of structural chromosomal aberration and polyploidy were below 5%. The positive controls were effective for induction of chromosome aberrations.

An in vitro mammalian cell micronucleus test for SWCNT (CNI, HiPco) was carried out with CHL (V79) cells at a concentration of 0, 12, 24, 48 or 96  $\mu$  g/cm<sup>2</sup> for 24 h (Kisin et al.<sup>57</sup>, 2007). No indications of chromosomal breakage and/or mitotic spindle damage were found.

Other data on in vitro chromosome aberration studies are summarized in Table 3.1.

Substance /Manufacture	Type of study	Cell	Concentration (exposure period)	Result	Reference
Non- functionalized SWCNT	Cytokinesis- block micronucleus (CBMN)assay	HDMEC (PromoCell)	25-150 μl/ml (68 h)	<ul> <li>↑ Micronuclei at 25 and 50 µl/m.</li> <li>↓ Proliferation potential (CBPI) of cells</li> </ul>	Cveticanin et al <sup>58</sup> (2010)
Amide functionalized purified SWCNT	Cytokinesis- block micronucleus (CBMN)assay	HDMEC (PromoCell)	25-150 μl/ml (68 h)	↑ Micronuclei at 25-150 µl/m.	
SWCNT/Sigma- Aldrich	Cytokinesis- block micronucleus (CBMN)assay	Murine macrophage cell line RAW 264.7	0.01-100 μg /ml (24 h)	↑ Micronuclei at doses above 0.1 μg/ml	Migliore et al <sup>59</sup> (2010)
>50% SWCNT , ~40% other CNT/Sigma- Aldrich	Cytokinesis- block micronucleus (CBMN)assay	Human bronchial epithelial BEAS 2B cell	36-360 µg /ml (24, 48, or 72h)	Dose independent increases of micronucleated cells at three concentrations in the 48 h treatment. (The authors' conclusion is positive)	Lindberg et al <sup>60</sup> (2009)

Table 3.1 Summary of other in vitro chromosome aberration studies

#### DNA damage and/or repair

Genotoxicity of **SWCNT (EliCarb®, Tomas Swan)** was assessed in the FE1-Muta<sup>TM</sup>Mouse lung epithelial cell line. SWCNT did not induce cell death within 24 hr at doses between 0 and 200 µg/ml or during long-term subculture exposure (576 hr) at 100 µg/ml. However, cell proliferation was slower with SWCNT exposure and a larger fraction of the cells were in the G1 phase. SWCNT did not increase the level of strand breaks, but significantly increased the level of FPG sensitive sites/oxidized purines (22 and 56%, respectively) determined by the comet assay. The mutant frequency in the *cII* gene was unaffected by 576 hr of exposure to 100 µg/ml SWCNT (Jacobsen et al.<sup>61</sup>, 2008).

An comet assay was conducted for SWCNT (CNI, HiPco) with CHL (V79) cells at concentration of 0, 24, 48 or 96  $\mu$  g/cm<sup>2</sup> for 3 or 24 h (Kisin et al.<sup>57</sup>, 2007). A 3-h SWCNT treatment led to DNA damage only at the highest SWCNT concentration. A 24-h treatment led to DNA damage in a concentration-dependent way. A 24-h exposure to 48 µg/cm2 of SWCNT significantly increased the level of migrated DNA, tail length and olive tail moment by 2.25-, 1.76-, and 2.8-fold, respectively, while treatment with 96 µg/cm2 SWCNT produced elevation in these parameters by 2.5-, 1.94-, and 3.4-fold, respectively. Other data on in vitro DNA damage and/or repair studies are summarized in Table 3.2.

Substance /Manufacture	Type of study	Cell	Concentration (exposure period)	Result	Reference
SWCNT/NIST	Double strand breaks (DSB) assay	Normal human NM and malignant MM mesothelial cell	25 or 50 μ g/ml (24 h)	↑ H2AX phosphorylation	Pacurai et al <sup>62</sup> (2008)
	Comet assay	Normal human NM and malignant MM mesothelial cell	25 or 50 μ g/ml (24 h)	↑ DNA migration	
Non- functionalized SWCNT	Double strand breaks (DSB) assay	HDMEC (PromoCell)	0.5-30 ul/ml (24 h)	↑ γ -H2AX foci	Cveticanin et al (2010)
Amide functionalized SWCNT/	Double strand breaks (DSB) assay	HDMEC (PromoCell)	0.5-30 ul/ml (24 h)	$\uparrow \gamma$ -H2AX foci	
SWCNT/COCO, Chinese Academy of Science	Comet assay	Primary mouse embryo fibroblast (BALB/c mouse)	5 or 10 μ g/ml (24 h)	↑ %Tail DNA ↑ Tail length ↑ Tail moment	Yang et al <sup>63</sup> (2009)
SWCNT/Heji	Comet assay	Human leukocytes	1, 5 or 10 μ g/ml (6 h)	No effects	Zeni et al <sup>64</sup> (2008)
>50% SWCNT , ~40% other CNT/Sigma- Aldrich	Comet assay	Human bronchial epithelial BEAS 2B cells	3.8-380 μ g/ml (24, 48 or 72 h)	$\uparrow$ %Tail DNA at 3.8 $\mu$ g/ml and more	Lindberg et al (2009)

Table 3.2 Summary of other in vitro DNA damage and/or repair studies

#### In vivo Studies

#### Chromosomal aberration

**Nikkiso SWCNT,** suspended in water and diluted with 0.3% CMC, was administrated twice by gavage in the interval of 24 hours to Crlj:CD1(ICR) mice of the age of 9 weeks (6 mice a group) at 5, 10 and 20 mg/kg/day (NEDO [#NN-30] unpublished study). In 24 hours, the bone-marrow cell was harvested from the femur and micronucleus assay was performed following OECD TG 474. No abnormality was seen in all the group of mice and no micronucleus formation was observed in each dose group of SWCNT.

**Super Growth SWCNT,** suspended in PBS with 1% Tween 80, was administrated twice by gavage in the interval of 24 hours to Crlj:CD1(ICR) mice of the age of 6 weeks (5 mice a group) at 60 or 200 mg/kg/day (Naya et al.<sup>56</sup>, 2011; NEDO [#NN-29]). In 24 hours, the bone-marrow cell was harvested from the femur and micronucleus assay was performed following OECD TG 474. No abnormality was seen in all the group of mice and no micronucleus formation was observed in each dose group of SWCNT.

#### DNA damage and/or repair

**Nikkiso SWCNT** was dosed at 0.2 or 1.0 mg/kg once or 0.04 or 0.2 mg/kg for 5 times (once/week) by intratracheal administration in male CrI:CD (SD) rats (NEDO [#NN-33] unpublished study). A comet assay was conducted in lung tissue taken from 3 h (single dose and repeated dose) or 24 h (single dose) after administration. There were no effects on %tail DNA.

Instillation of **SWCNT (EliCarb®**, **Tomas Swan)** was conducted to ApoE-/- mice at dose of 54  $\mu$  g/mouse (Jacobsen et al.<sup>65</sup>, 2009). A comet assay revealed significant increases in *Il-6, Mip-2* and *Mcp-1* mRNA in lung tissue at 3 h and 24 h following instillation of SWCNT.

Pharyngeal aspiration of **SWCNT (CNI, HiPco)** in C57BL/6 mice at 0-20 µg/mouse caused mutations of K-*ras* gene locus in the lung of mice (Shvedova et al.<sup>41</sup>, 2008; NIOSH).

C57BL/6 mice were exposed to **SWCNT (CNI, HiPco)** at 10 and 40  $\mu$ g/mouse by intrapharyngeal instillation (Li et al.<sup>49</sup>, 2007). Aortic mtDNA damage was developed at 7, 28, and 60 days after exposure. The level of oxidative damage to DNA (8-oxodG) in the colon mucosa, liver, and lung of Fisher rats was

assessed after gavage administration of **SWCNT (Thomas Swan)** at 0.064 or 0.64 mg/kg bw (Folkman et al.<sup>66</sup>, 2009). SWCNT increased the levels of 8-oxodG in liver and lung.

#### Studies in Humans

No information is available.

#### Summary

Nikkiso and Super Growth SWCNTs did not induce gene mutation in bacterial *in vitro* tests (OECD TG 471 and Japanese guideline). Nikkiso and Super Growth SWCNTs did not induce chromosome aberrations in cultured Chinese hamster lung (CHL/IU) cells (OECD TG 473 and Japanese guideline). In vivo micronucleus assays (OECD TG 474) for Nikkiso and Super Growth SWCNTs showed negative results. Although a comet assay in lung tissues taken from rats given Nikkiso SWCNT intratracheally showed no effects on %tail DNA, many other studies (the comet assays, CBMN assays, DSB assays, K-ras mutation test, mtDNA assay and oxidatively damaged DNA assay) indicated possible DNA damage caused by SWCNTs.

#### 4.1.7 Carcinogenicity

No information is available for carcinogenicity of SWCNT, but carcinogenic potential can be evaluated by an ongoing intratracheal instillation study with a two-year observation period (NEDO [#NN-14] unpublished study).

#### Summary

No information is available for carcinogenicity of SWCNT, but carcinogenic potential can be evaluated by an ongoing intratracheal instillation study with a two-year observation period (NEDO [#NN-14] unpublished study).

## 4.1.8 Toxicity for Reproduction

#### Studies in Animals

Pregnant CD-1 mice were intravenously injected with SWCNT, oxidized-SWCNT and ultra oxidized-SWCNT at 0 - 30 µg/animal on day 5.5 of gestation (Pietroiusti et al.<sup>67</sup>, 2011). No deaths, clinically relevant disorders or evident behavioral changes were observed in all dams. Histological and immune-

histochemical analysis of maternal tissues revealed no toxicological effects on the liver, lung, kidney and spleen. A high percentage of early miscarriages or fetal malformations were observed in the oxidized SWCNT group, while lower percentages were observed in SWCNT group at 0.1  $\mu$ g/animal and higher. All placentas from malformed fetuses appeared abnormal. The LOAEL of reproductive and developmental toxicity of SWCNTs was considered to be 0.1 $\mu$ g/animal.

#### Studies in Humans

No information is available.

#### Summary

Pregnant mice were intravenously injected with SWCNT, oxidized-SWCNT and ultra oxidized-SWCNT at 0 - 30  $\mu$ g/animal on day 5.5 of gestation. In dams, no adverse effects were observed except in placenta. A high percentage of early miscarriages or fetal malformations was observed in the oxidized SWCNT group, while lower percentages were observed in SWCNT group at 0.1  $\mu$ g/animal and higher. The LOAEL of reproductive and developmental toxicity of SWCNTs was considered to be 0.1 $\mu$ g/animal. Further study will be necessary to confirm reproductive and developmental toxicity of SWCNT.

### 4.1.9 Toxicity in vitro

In Germany, the neurotoxicity and gliotoxicity were studied by using several cell culture systems obtained from fetal or newborn rat brain for three types of SWCNTs (unpublished study, need further information).

\*SWCNT (a.t.) :SWCNTs cleaned with acid in order to remove contaminations of metal-catalysts.

\*fSWCNT (a.t.):SWCNTs cleaned with acid and functionalised with salmon sperm DNA.

\*fSWCNT:SWCNTs functionalised with salmon sperm DNA but not acid treated .

Exposure of fSWCNT (a.t.) reduced the normal adhesion of OLN-93 cells. Exposure of SWCNT (a.t.) caused significant decrease of cell viability. fSWCNT (a.t.) caused significant increase of cytotoxicity in astrocytes and neurons. A decrease of metabolic activity in astrocytes was observed upon exposure of fSWCNT (a.t.), but not upon exposure of fSWCNT. OLN-93 cells exhibited a strong reduction of cell proliferation upon exposure of fSWCNT (a.t.). Significant reduction of cell proliferation in astrocytes was found upon fSWCNTs (a.t.). Exposure to fSWCNTs (a.t.) significantly reduced the total cell numbers of astroctes and OLN-93 cells. A reduction of the mitochondrial membrane potential was found upon exposure of fSWCNT (a.t.). Upon fSWCNT (a.t.) exposure, cells revealed a significant increase of intracellular calcium concentration. Stimulation of calcium by rIL-3 strengthened the effect. No increase of calcium concentration was found for fSWCNT of the identical exposure concentrations and for DNS alone.

Radomski et al.<sup>68</sup> (2005) demonstrated the ability of SWCNT (SES Research) to induce platelet aggregation and *in vivo* vascular thrombosis by using human platelet samples and carotid artery of Witar-Kyoto rats.

Raja et al.<sup>69</sup> (2007) demonstrated the ability of SWCNT (CNI, HiPco) to alter aortic smooth muscle growth by using rat aortic smooth muscle cells.

## REFERENCE

- <sup>1</sup> Niyogi S. et al. ACC. Chem. Res. 35, 1105-1113 (2002)
- <sup>2</sup> Maynard et. al. J. Toxicol Environ. Health, A 67(1), 87-107(2004)
- <sup>3</sup> Bouchard et al. 2012 Aggregation Kinetics and Transport of Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes at Low Surfactant Concentrations, Environ. Sci. and Technol. 46 (8).
- <sup>4</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology 2011a. Maonometric respirometry test of Nikkiso SWCNT. CERI 15606.
- <sup>5</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology 2011b. Maonometric respirometry test of Nikkiso SWCNT. CERI 15607.
- <sup>6</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology 2011c. Biogradation test of Nikkiso SWCNT. CERI 15618.
- <sup>7</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology 2011d. Biogradation test of Super Growth SWCNT. CERI 15652.
- <sup>8</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology 2011e. Biogradation test of Nikkiso SWCNT. CERI 15619.
- <sup>9</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology 2011f. Biogradation test of Super Growth SWCNT. CERI 15653.
- <sup>10</sup> Parks, A., Portis, L., Schierz, A., Washburn, K., Perron, M., Burgess R., Ho, K., Chandler, T., Ferguson, P. 2013. Bioaccumulation and toxicity of single walled carbon nanotubes (SWNT) to benthic organisms at the base of the marine food chain (in press, US EPA ORD).
- <sup>11</sup> Schierz, A., Parks, A., Washburn, K., Chandler, G., Ferguson, P. 2012. Characterization and quantitative analysis of single-walled carbon nanotubes in the aquatic environment using near-infrared fluorescence spectroscopy. Environ Sci. & Technol., 46:12262–12271.
- <sup>12</sup> SWCNT Dossier "Transfer Marine System2; SWeNT SWCNT;Bioaccumulation: aquatic / sediment.002".
- <sup>13</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology. 2011i. 96 hr Acute Toxicity test of Nikkiso SWCNT using Rice fish. CERI 95403.
- <sup>14</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology. 2011j. 96 hr Acute Toxicity test of Super Growth SWCNT using Rice fish. CERI 95407.
- <sup>15</sup> Cheng, J., FlaHaut, E., Cheng, S. 2007. Effect of carbon nanotubes on developing zebrafish (Danio rerio) embryos. Env. Tox & Chem., 26: 708-716.
- <sup>16</sup> SWCNT Dossier, "NRC pristine SWCNTs SIDS Fish acute toxicity by Canada.001, 002 and 003"
- <sup>17</sup> Smith, J., Shaw, J., Handy, D. 2007. Toxicity of single walled carbon nanotubes to rainbow trout, (Oncorhychus mykiss): Respiratory toxicity, organ pathologies, & other physiological effects. Aquat.Toxicol., 82: 94-109.
- <sup>18</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology. 2011. Prolonged Toxicity test of Nikkiso SWCNT using Oryzias latipes. Mitsubishi Chemical Medience.Corp. A100698.
- <sup>19</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology. 2011. Prolonged Toxicity test of Super GRowth SWCNT using Oryzias latipes. Mitsubishi Chemical Medience Corp. A110430.
- <sup>20</sup> Zhu, X., Zhu, L., Chen, Y., Tian, S. 2009. Acute toxicities of six manufactured nanomaterial suspensions to Daphnia magna. Nanopart. Res, 11:67-75.
- <sup>21</sup> OECD (2000); Guidance document on aquatic toxicity testing of difficult substances and mixtures, OECD environmental health and safety Publications Series on Testing and Assessment No. 23.

- <sup>22</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology. 2011. 48 hr Acute Immobilisation test of Nikkiso SWCNT using Daphnis magna. CERI 95402.
- <sup>23</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology. 2011. 48 hr Acute Immobilisation test of Super Growth SWCNT using Daphnis magna. CERI 95406.
- <sup>24</sup> Youn, S, Wang, R., Gao, J., Hovespyan, A., Ziegler, K., Bonzongo, J., Britton, G. 2011. Mitigation of the impact of single-walled carbon nanotubes on a freshwater green algae: Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata. Nanotoxicol., 5:1-12.
- <sup>25</sup> Blaise, C., Gagne, F., Ferard, F., Eullaffroy, P. 2008. Ecotoxicity of selected Nano-Materials to Aquatic Organisms. Env. Toxicol., 23: 591-598.
- <sup>26</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology. 2011. Algae Growth Inhibition Test of Nikkiso SWCNT using Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata. CERI 95401.
- <sup>27</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology 2011. Algae Growth Inhibition Test of Super Growth SWCNT using Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata. CERI 95405.
- <sup>28</sup> Fraser, K., Reinardy, H., Shaw, B., Henry, T., Handy, R. 2011. Dietary toxicity of single-walled carbon nanotubes and fullerenes (C60) in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Nanotoxicol., 5: 98-108.
- <sup>29</sup> Mwangi, N., Wang, N., Ingersoll, C. Hardesty, D., Brunson, E., Li, H. &Deng, B. 2012. Toxicity of carbon nanotubes to freshwater aquatic invertebrates. Env. Tox & Chem, 31:1823-1830.
- <sup>30</sup> TASC, Technology Research Association for Single Wall Carbon Nanotubes. 2011. Daphnia magna Reproduction Test. Mitsubishi Chemical Medience Corp. A110431.
- <sup>31</sup>TASC, Technology Research Association for Single Wall Carbon Nanotubes. 2011. Daphnia magna Reproduction Test. Mitsubishi Chemical Medience Corp. A100699.
- <sup>32</sup> Templeton, R., Ferguson, L. Washburn, K., Scrivens, W. Chandler, T. 2006. Life-cycle effects of single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNTs) on an Estuarine Meiobenthic copepod. Env. Sci & Technol., 10-1021.
- <sup>33</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology. 2011. Respiration Inhibition test of Nikkiso SWCNT using activated sludge. CERI 95400.
- <sup>34</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology. 2011h. Respiration Inhibition test of Super Growth SWCNT using activated sludge. CERI 95404.
- <sup>35</sup> Cañas JE, Long M, Nations S, Vadan R, Dai L, Luo M, Ambikapathi R, Lee EH, Olszyk D 2008 Effects of functionalized and nonfunctionalized single-walled carbon nanotubes on root elongation of select crop species. Environ Toxicol Chem., 27(9):1922-31.
- <sup>36</sup> Liu, Q, Chen, B., Wang, Q., Shi, X., Xiao, Z., Lin, J., & Fang, X. Carbon nanotubes as molecular transporters for walled plant cells. Nano Letters, 9: 1007-1010.
- <sup>37</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology. 2011. Nitrogen Transformation test for Soil Microorganisms of Nikkiso SWCNT Mitsubishi Chemical Medience Corp. A100700.
- <sup>38</sup> AIST, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology. 2011. Nitrogen Transformation test for Soil Microorganisms of Super Growth SWCNT Mitsubishi Chemical Medience Corp. A100432.
- <sup>39</sup> Wang et al. (2004) Biodistribution of carbon single-wall carbon nanotubes in mice. J. Nanosci Nanotechnol.;4(8):1019-1024.
- <sup>40</sup> Cherukuri et al.(2006) Mammalian pharmacokinetics of carbon nanotubes using intrinsic near-infrared fluorescence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.; 103(50):18882-18886.
- <sup>41</sup> Shvedova et al. (2008) Inhalation vs. aspiration of single-walled carbon nanotubes in C57BL/6 mice: inflammation, fibrosis, oxidative stress, and mutagenesis. Am J. Physiol: Lung Cell Mol.Physiol. 295(4): L552-565.
- <sup>42</sup> Kobayashi et al. (2011) Pulmonary and systemic responses of highly pure and well-dispersed single-wall carbon nanotubes after intratracheal instillation in rats. Inhalation toxicology 23, 13:814-828.

- <sup>43</sup> Warheit et al. (2004) Comparative pulmonary toxicity assessment of single-wall carbon nanotubes in rats. Toxicol Sci. 77(1):117-25.
- <sup>44</sup> Lam et al. (2004) Pulmonary toxicity of single-wall carbon nanotubes in mice 7 and 90 days after intratracheal instillation. Toxicol Sci. 77(1):126-134.
- <sup>45</sup> Chou et al. (2008) Single-walled carbon nanotubes can induce pulmonary injury in mouse model. Nono let 8: 437-445.
- <sup>46</sup> Miyawaki et al. (2008) Toxicity of single-walled carbon nanohorns. ACS Nano 2(2):213-26.

- <sup>48</sup> Mangum et al. (2006) Single-walled carbon nanotube (SWCNT)-induced interstitial fibrosis in the lungs of rats is associated with increased levels of PDGF mRNA and the formation of unique intercellular carbon structures that bridge alveolar macrophages in situ. Part Fibre Toxicol 3:15.
- <sup>49</sup>Li et al. (2007) Cardiovascular Effects of Pulmonary Exposure to Single-Wall Carbon Nanotubes. Environm. Health Perspec. 115(3): 377-382.
- <sup>50</sup> Shvedova et al. (2007) Vitamin E Deficiency Enhances Pulmonary Inflammatory Response and Oxidative Stress Induced by Single Walled Carbon Nanotubes in C57BL/6 Mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 221(3): 339-348.
- <sup>51</sup> Shvedova et al. (2008) Inhalation vs. aspiration of single-walled carbon nanotubes in C57BL/6 mice: inflammation, fibrosis, oxidative stress, and mutagenesis. Am J. Physiol: Lung Cell Mol.Physiol. 295(4): L552-565.
- <sup>52</sup> Mercer et al. (2008) Alteration of deposition pattern and pulmonary response as a result of improved dispersion of aspirated single-walled carbon nanotubes in a mouse model. Am J. Physiol. : Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 294:L87-L97
- <sup>53</sup> Matsumoto M et al. (2012) No toxicological effects on acute and repeated oral gavage doses of single-wall or multi-wall carbon nanotube in rats. J. Toxicol Sci. 2012;37(3):463-74.
- <sup>54</sup> Ema et al. (2011) Evaluation of dermal and eye irritation and skin sensitization due to carbon nanotubes. Reg Toxicol pharmacol 61: 276-281.
- <sup>55</sup> Morimoto et al. (2011) Pulmonary toxicity of well-dispersed single-wall carbon nanotubes after inhalation. Nanotoxicology, Posted online on September 26, 2011.
- <sup>56</sup> Naya et al. (2011) In vivo genotoxicity study of titanium dioxide nanoparticles using comet assay following intratracheal instillation in rats. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 61(2):192-198.
- <sup>57</sup> Kisin et al. (2007) Single walled carbon nanotubes: Geno- and cytotoxic effects in lung figroblast V79 cells. J Toxicol Environ Health Part A 70:2071-2079.
- <sup>58</sup> Cveticanin et al. (2010) Using carbon nanotubes to induce micronuclei and double strand breaks of the DNA in human cells. Nanotechnology. 21-1.
- <sup>59</sup> Migliore et at. (2010) Carbon nanotubes induce oxidative DNA damage in RAW 264.7 cells. Environ Mol Mutagen 51(4): 294-303.
- <sup>60</sup> Lindberg et al. (2009) Genotoxicity of nanomaterials: DNA damage and micronuclei induced by carbon nanotubes and graphite nanofibres in human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro. Tox Lett. 186:166-173.
- <sup>61</sup> Jacobsen et al. (2008) Genotoxicity, cytotoxicity, and reactive oxygen species induced by single-walled carbon nanotubes and C(60) fullerenes in the FE1-Mutatrade markMouse lung epithelial cells. Environ Mol Mutagen 49(6):476-87.
- <sup>62</sup> Pacurai et al. (2008) Raw single-wall carbon nanotubes induce oxidative stress and activate MAPKs, AP-1, NF-kappaB, and Akt in normal and malignant human mesothelial cells. Environ Health Perspect. 116(9):1211-7.
- <sup>63</sup> Yang et al. (2009) Comparative study of cytotoxicity, oxidative stress and genotoxicity induced by four typical nanomaterials: the role of particle size, shape and composition. J. Appl Toxicol. 29(1):69-78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Shvedova et al. (2005) Unusual inflammatory and fibrogenic pulmonary responses to single-walled carbon nanotubes in mice. Am J. Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol; 289(5): L698-708.

- <sup>64</sup> Zeni et al. (2008) Cytotoxicity Investigation on Cultured Human Blood Cells Treated with Single-Wall Carbon Nanotubes. Sensors 8, 488-499.
- <sup>65</sup> Jacobsen et al. (2009) Lung inflammation and genotoxicity following pulmonary exposure to nanoparticles in ApoE-/- mice. Part Fibre Toxicol.6:2.
- <sup>66</sup> Folkmann et al. (2009) Oxidatively Damaged DNA in Rats Exposed by Oral Gavage to C60 Fullerenes and Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes. Environ Health Perspect. 117(5): 703–708.
- <sup>67</sup> Pietroiusti et al. (2011) Low Doses of Pristine and Oxidized Single-Wall Carbon Nanotubes Affect Mammalian Embryonic Development. ACS Nano 5(6):4624-4633.
- <sup>68</sup> Radomski et al. (2005) Nanoparticle-induced platelet aggregation and vascular thrombosis. Br. J. Pharmacol. 146(6):882-893.
- <sup>69</sup> Raja et al. (2007). Impact of carbon nanotube exposure, dosage and aggregation on smooth muscle cells. Toxicol. Lett. 169(1): 51-63.